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  Walter C. Wolff in Paris, December 31, 1945.
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  For Jacob, so that Grandpa will always be in the room with you.


  Author’s Note

  This book is a work of nonfiction and is based in its entirety on the collection of letters written by my father to his family during his World War II service, which he saved for the rest of his life and entrusted to me not long before he died. All of the names of family, friends, soldiers, or Displaced Persons mentioned in this book come from those letters and in some cases from my own subsequent research for this book. The translation of the letters from their original French was done by me, and I have made every effort to be as accurate as possible. Any letters written in German or that have German writing in their letterhead were translated by scholars or friends. No historic work of this scope and nature can be free of error, but it is my hope that the reader will recognize the effort to achieve accuracy while trying to paint a full picture of my father’s experiences during his childhood and early manhood before, during, and in the early aftermath of World War II. All of the dialogue and gestures are drawn from the letters or in some cases from my father’s personal vernacular and body language as I knew him. All of the archival material, whether letters, postcards, Nazi propaganda material, or photographs, has been reproduced from my personal collection given to me by my father.


  Preface

  The Maginot Line of Memory

  Long before he was the man he would become, he was a boy running for his life. With a discriminating eye for detail and the inner mechanisms with which to cope, my father was lucky enough not only to survive but to remember moments with a certain fondness. Later, while he served in the US Army, he wrote with humor and dry wit in such vivid detail that a present-day reader of his letters feels as though immersed in a newsreel. Some of the persecuted from that time returned to prosecute. My father, Walter C. Wolff, was one of them. He sent war criminals to their fate.

  Sometimes that which is precious shines through the misery of the continuum. As soon as there is an opportunity for normalcy, normalcy takes over so that recovery can begin. He almost never spoke to me about those years when I was growing up. Is silence needed to recover from the nightmares of war? Only gradually, and only after my father had died, did I begin to understand.

  His elegant, cultured demeanor hid dark secrets of a childhood lost to time. He carried his memories like a lockbox for valuables. Occasionally, pieces were brought out, but his chosen memories were happy. They didn’t reveal any of the terror his family had lived through, fleeing the onslaught brought about by Hitler’s quest for world domination and ethnic cleansing. From conversations with my father, I had no idea what they had experienced; but if September 11 was one day of terror in my past, for him living that fear on a daily basis until safety was assured was certainly formative. When he reached me by phone from Italy on September 12, 2001, there was no disguise for his emotions or the significance of that date. I had only heard him cry like that once, when my grandmother died.

  We were lucky that day; we lost a legacy but were very fortunate not to have lost any family or friends. The legacy was the Twin Towers. My father-in-law, Lester Feld, had been the chief structural engineer on the original Trade Center project. He went to Japan to inspect and select the type of steel used to build them. Since the towers were his life’s work, we always referred to them as “Grandpa Lester’s buildings” when we pointed them out to our son. Lester died almost a decade before Jacob came into the world, and this was one way to give him a sense of who his paternal grandfather was. On the night of September 11, my then three-year-old son sat at his alphabet table in our old kitchen and wept over his strawberry Jell-O. He somehow understood that he would never see those buildings again and that the planned trip to visit them with his cousins on their next visit to New York would never come to pass. We had wanted to make it a special occasion, to make a day of it. The loss was devastating. War was at home. September 12 often recurred as a significant date in my father’s letters.

  Silence is its own kind of mask. Yet, though silence and reserve were a constant while I knew my father, I grew up with a lot of love. I always felt thankful, for with that came the security to enjoy life and in turn return the love. Before he died, I even taught him to say, “I love you,” back to me. At the end, my father’s heart lost its strength, but I like to believe he used that muscle a lot in his life. It may have hardened to survive his childhood, but I knew it to be a soft and fiercely loyal muscle. He was a complicated man whose love was unconditional. I returned the favor. Even after their divorce, my parents could still find a way to love one another and never throw that to the wind. It meant everything to me. When he called me from Florence that day, he cried, “How is your mother?” It was for her that he opened his eyes one last time before dying, as she whispered into his ear that she loved him and always would. She kissed his feverish forehead before she said her last goodbye. Poetry.

  I always felt the wonder of privilege. A great part of my education came from traveling.

  When I look back to my childhood, I understand why we spent so much time in Europe. There was no need to discuss the past with the children; my father was too busy building a life—busy with family and business. He had become a very successful furniture designer and retailer in New York after the war. He built his business around his lifestyle, and Bon Marché, his company, was the vehicle. All of the furniture was produced in European factories. We would travel back to what he had left behind because he found comfort in the familiarity. Yet, we never had a second home there. It would never be in the right place; it was too cumbersome and a weight. We had one home, where my mother still lives today. If there were any questions pertaining to his past, the answer was always, “Someday you will understand.”

  We never had to fight for our lives or search for the food that we put in our mouths, as he did. Our charge was to be good children, study, and do well in school and never to worry because we received everything that we needed.

  *  *  *  *

  I loved how my father could switch between languages without skipping a beat. I inherited this gift. Dad was strict, business-like, and hard to reach. His stubbornness was renowned; that quality was a survival tool. He was also a most elegant man, with the finest taste. I looked up to him, I feared him, and finally, toward the end of his life and well into my own, I was able to stand my ground with him—no small victory.

  I am a lot like he was. My father had a guileless love for so many things, perhaps because life had been so tenuous during those early years. I have never lost my childlike love for most things. With every sip of espresso, with every bite of a delicious pastry, with every sniff of a fine wine, with every scarf that I wear like his ascots, so he is everywhere in me. When I lean a certain way, when I speak another language, when I see his lasting impression in a design.

  As I write, my son Jacob is approaching bar mitzvah. Something of his grandfather has passed into his looks, his demeanor, and most certainly his approach to Judaism, which is to act in line with tradition as he questions the veracity of what he is learning. This is completely, but exactly, as my father did. Only, when my father was bar mitzvah at the Grande Synagogue in Brussels, Hitler had been in power for four years and any act of religious tenacity was a brave act of resistance. Though Belgium wasn’t under occupation, the threat of persecution was ever-present. My father adored Jacob and moved beyond his reserve to show affection in the most comfortable way he knew how, through “goodnesses”—pastries and chocolate, toys, and the occasional and most loving brush across his little nose or lift of his chin or tweak at his ear when Jacob was little. He was funny, though. Only my father would run out before afternoon tea with Jacob to buy coffee ice cream for a three year old! When we sat down at his dining table and the “goodnesses” were served, I looked at my father and said, “Dad, ice cream from Starbucks for a three year old?!”

  “Why, it’s latte,” he said in a pronounced Italian accent, pointing to the word written boldly in green across the container.

  “Dad,” I sighed, “latte has caffeine in it. Caffe latte. Dai, Papa?!” I said in Italian, hoping he would catch my drift.

  “Nini, latte is ‘milk’ in Italian.”

  “Really, but here in America it’s coffee ice cream from Starbucks!”

  He was oblivious, always. It was part of his aloof charm. He was, and remains still, a force in our lives, whose influence reaches Jacob on levels both great and small. We are after all the product of a man whose silence spoke of a generation of children who survived narrow escapes to live very full lives, their masks intact to the end.


  Prologue

  Several months before my father died, I visited him at the apartment he shared with his second wife on West 96th Street. It had been a long hot ride uptown on the subway.

  The sun was shining through the window as I faced him, its warm rays settling on us while we talked quietly. My throat ached as I fought back tears, thinking of the inevitability of pending loss. He didn’t need his gold and sapphire stud set anymore. It was part of a life he no longer could lead. My fingers went over the tooling of the metalwork and the coolness of the deep blue stones. This feeling of a last goodbye would replay between us in the months to come, as my father’s body gave in to his enlarged heart and weakened lungs.

  Dad told me how much he loved me, making a difficult moment sweeter. He was always very private with his thoughts. When he summoned his strength, I helped him off the bed and walked in front of him in case he should fall. It would hurt, but I’d rather he fell on me than hit the floor again. This time it really might kill him. The last time that happened, I stood over him in the ER at Mount Sinai and directed the plastic surgeon as he rebuilt my father’s nose. It had been crushed when his six-foot frame fell face first to the floor after he had lost consciousness, flattening his nose. The surgeon immediately asked for a photograph. I didn’t carry one in my wallet, so I pointed to my nose and told him to copy it exactly; they were identical. Though the operation was not for the faint of heart, I volunteered to stay and hold my father’s hand while the doctor realigned his features. As the doctor began the reconstruction, he pointed out each aspect of his injury. At one point he pulled up a broken white band and showed me a severed artery. He said that had my father not been found in time, he might have died from the fall.

  As the surgeon manipulated my father’s nose, I knew Dad would remember none of the experience later. At the time, it reminded me of moving a piece of furniture into place: a little to the left, a little to the right. It was a remarkable moment, and my very vain father was forever thankful that he didn’t wind up looking like Rodin’s sculpture of a man with a broken nose. All of that money spent on a Beaux Arts education was finally put to good use. I didn’t let the surgeon stop until the shape had been restored to a hair of what it had been. It was always about one thirty-second of an inch off. The surgery left a faint scar down the middle, but my father never got over how great the result looked and would often tell the story of how his daughter the artist helped a plastic surgeon restore his nose.

  As he walked to his suit closet in the makeshift office, his lips pursed together, he let out a little whistle through every labored breath. He said, “I want to give you something.”

  While he opened the door to his closet, I took a good look at the books lining the rosewood bookcases that had once lined the library at my mother’s apartment in Greenwich Village. I made a mental note of where my favorites were kept. I had always felt proprietary about them. Someday these would be mine, and I would cherish them as he had. Atop the bookcases were his old radios, each design more modern than the last. A timeline of sorts. He reached up to the shelf just above his suits and carefully removed a green metal file box from his army days.

  “Here, you may as well have these,” he said, and handed it to me.

  Having never seen the box before, I had no idea what was inside. I opened it and coughed, choking on the dust that coated the exterior. There were letters and newspapers that gave off the musty odor of history. When I leafed through the letters, I saw that most were in French. Over the many months to come, I began the painstaking process of archiving them and sorting through the newspaper articles and photographs that told his story. It would be years before I would begin to translate those letters, but a title came to mind immediately.

  “If this were ever a book . . . ,” I would say.

  On a late summer afternoon several years later, I lay on the couch, dictionary in hand, struggling to translate a chapter of a manuscript written by a friend, an Italian writer. If I could give his writing an English voice, I would be invited to translate his whole novel. For whatever reason—where sometimes only fate can lead us—I felt I was translating the wrong person’s words. I crossed the living room and picked up one of the hundreds of letters that I had so carefully archived, then bounded up the stairs to the computer. Try, I thought, just see what happens. In contrast, the words flowed like water from a faucet. I found my voice. It was my father’s.

  Jews on the run in war-torn France in June of 1940. Surely the situation surrounding my family had to have been more terrifying and damaging than my father let on. The weather had warmed; the heat was already intense during the day. They had no choice but to continue; they couldn’t go home. As they scrambled to safety under their car, the fabric of my grandmother Lisa’s handsome tweed suit got caked with mud. She clutched the alligator bag that would accompany her all the way to the safety of their new American lives.

  Not long ago, I was looking for something in the handbag she carried with her throughout their escape, and I found a very old set of keys. She clearly thought they would return; my father said as much. My grandmother kept those keys, and when she died in 1981 they were still in her purse, where they’ve remained to this day. She kept them as a reminder, perhaps as a talisman.

  When she looked at them, what did she let herself remember? She never went back to Europe again. Never returned to any place that held the keys to her past. I have since turned the three keys into a piece of jewelry.

  Every Sunday, we visited my grandmother at the Park Royal Hotel when I was growing up. She waited for us in her upholstered chair. She learned that kind of patience during the war. Of that I am certain. There was a lot of time spent waiting, wondering, worrying. As her polished, orderly life spun out of her control, all that Omi held dear and familiar was ripped away in a moment. The threat weighing so heavily could have, in an instant, delivered its crushing blow. The elegance of her former life vanished, and she was left with few belongings, memories, and tireless anticipation of a son’s visit, with wife and children in tow. He lived a full life. She could no longer allow herself that privilege, for she had broken with her past, and the depth of loss was too great to overcome. It was as if part of her soul had frozen, so encumbered was she. Loss, like a fingerprint or a scar, is a permanent marker, leaving one to forever compensate. She left living to youth and found comfort as the passive observer in her blue chair, where war could no longer impose its warped rules and break her.

  Mr. Kresser was this family’s human talisman. Perhaps if my father had allowed himself, he would have acknowledged that some force greater than himself had brought them together by an accident of fate, sealing their chance for a future.

  [image: image]

  My grandmother Omi with the handbag she carried during their escape.


  PART ONE

  Hidden in Plain Sight


  CHAPTER 1

  Walking My Father’s Labyrinth

  [image: image]

  119 Moselweiserweg, Koblenz: the house where my father was born.

  His early childhood was spent cloistered in a large four-story Victorian building in Koblenz, Germany. He didn’t have a lot of friends and played only with his sister and cousins. Times had become dangerous, and he was kept apart from other children. My grandfather was a wine maker and merchant. One of his wineries was located behind the house. They were Conservative Jews; my grandfather was an active community member. They were quite wealthy, and he gave generously to the Socialist Party. My father used to say, “The enemies of his enemy were his friends.” It was well-known that he gave money to one of the many parties that opposed the Nazis.

  August 1933 was the last time the family would see their home. They never returned. My grandparents fled Nazi Germany through Luxembourg and settled in Strasbourg, while the children were put in boarding school. My father was only five when he was sent away. His parents used a bout of tuberculosis as an excuse to send him, along with his sister, Ellen, who was three years older, to Switzerland. Eventually, with permits as tight as they were, they could no longer stay in France. My grandparents moved once again, this time to neutral Belgium.
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  Ellen, Omi, and my father taking a spring break from Belmunt, on the slopes of St. Moritz, 1932.

  From 1933 until 1939, my father’s formal education was at Belmunt, an exclusive boarding school in St. Moritz, Switzerland. Photographs from that time show an active and happy boy. For both my father and Ellen, school represented a safe haven and a secure home. There was no fear associated with being Jewish. In fact, the school’s director, Monsieur Shoch, was a Dutch Jew. My father and Ellen kept in touch with him and his family for the rest of their lives. Not knowing their history, I could never fathom the bond that my father had with his sister and his cousin Pierre. If I had, I would have respected and nurtured it more as an adult. I can hear my father’s voice begging my brother and me to get along as children, because we might really need one another someday. I understand now that Ellen and my father’s bond was their lifeline. They depended upon each other for survival. Rivalry was not an option.

  While at boarding school, they took advantage of all the school could offer. My father became fluent in French, continued learning to read and write in German, and learned to speak English. He made life-long friends who included his sister and the cousin of the king of Spain, Fernando Zobel, and others who would pass through their lives for decades to come, such as Henry Arnhold and even the now notorious Claus von Bülow. As children they had a sheltered sense of freedom in St. Moritz, surrounded by the wonderful caring atmosphere at Belmunt. It was there more than any other place that my father considered his spiritual and ancestral home.

  All of this, before the real running began. A childhood sprinkled with charm all the way through, or so it might seem.


  CHAPTER 2

  Bombs, Bullets, and Lies

  On or about May 6, 1940, my father’s family began their sixteen-month odyssey of escape through France, ending with their safe arrival in New York on September 12, 1941. Sixty years to the day later, I would hear my father’s halting voice, choked with tears when he called to see if my family and I were safe after the fall of the Twin Towers. As devastated as I felt, I found myself comforting him over the phone like a child in my arms. It broke my heart.

  Several years after his death, I sat watching the video testimony about his family’s escape that he gave for the Shoah Foundation’s Visual History Archive. He had consented to do the video as a gift to Jacob, his grandson, and the foundation had granted me permission to edit it for use on my website. My father sat with his arms at his sides, almost passively. His eyes move down and to the left, as if he’s watching his own scratched memory in his mind’s eye. His words come slowly, evenly, as he thinks carefully about what he is going to say on camera, mindful not to show any emotion. I watch his every gesture; I try to understand more than he is willing to say. When he slows down or hesitates, filling time with uncharacteristic disfluencies, I edit him, forcing him to clarify his thoughts. I have an hour and a half of video to work with, and it is up to me to pull the best of him out of the footage to build around his story from the details I uncover.

  He says, “Times had already become dangerous; we fled from Brussels. We left when the German armies were approaching.” During the four days before the Nazis rained bombs on Brussels, my family drove away from the city. They took a head start. Approximately two million Belgians joined them and flowed south into France as Paris herself was being evacuated. In his book Diary of a Witness, Raymond-Raoul Lambert describes the course of events: “We were conquered by Germany in the course of ten days. May 10: Belgium was invaded. May 11: they broke through the Ardennes in Belgium. May 12: bombing of the roads in Belgium, with fleeing civilians hindering troop movements. New tactic: target first the nerve centers from which morale and motivation stem. May 13: the Germans crossed the Meuse [the Belgian border with France].”

  Before their escape from Brussels, they carefully packed up their belongings at La Résidence, the elegant residential building where they lived, and left them with the concierge, Monsieur Hubert. They took only the necessities and stored the rest. With a trailer in tow and an American friend, Lewis Kresser, at their side, they traveled literally one step ahead of the enemy, with the Germans at their heels. From the windows of their car they watched Rue de la Loi and their adopted city disappear. City turned to country as they inched towards the coast.
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  My grandfather Arthur, Omi, and an unidentified woman. This may be the car they used in their escape.

  Mr. Kresser, a retired intelligence officer, had been part of the American army during World War I. Why he was in Belgium for the Wehrmacht’s invasion is a matter of speculation, though some in my family say he was my grandmother’s lover. When I read through my father’s letters, I found a paper luggage tag with Kresser’s Baltimore address on it and a couple of letters that my father sent him while he was in the army. Remarkably, Kresser must have given those letters to my grandmother as a keepsake.

  The five—my father, his sister Ellen, my grandparents, and Kresser—drove along the coastal road toward Dunkirk. My father continues in his interview: “We were in Dunkirk at the time of the first bombardment, in a restaurant having dinner.” Food was scarce, and increasingly hard to find. They took cover in the restaurant and finished their meal. Once they left Dunkirk, they continued along the coastal road toward Normandy. My father recounted the many times he sat on the hood of the car at night with the headlights off and would act as my grandfather’s eyes leading him down the road. He wore the Jaeger-LeCoultre watch with the glow-in-the-dark face that he had worn as he stood at the Bimah in Brussels’ Grande Synagogue in July 1939 for his bar mitzvah. Long ago, my father gave me that watch, which I had restored to its original luster. On the occasion of Jacob’s first birthday in 1999, and my adult bat mitzvah, I wore it as I read my Torah portion.

  “There was no more border control; refugees were flooding the road. You could barely drive. There were carriages and cars and bicycles,” said my father. They were traveling at the rate of about five-to-ten kilometers per hour. Old footage shows civilians silently moving in one direction as the troops moved past them. People are on foot, on carts, in cars; they are stopped by the edge of the roads, eating or just watching. The roads are narrow; everything and everyone moves slowly. Escape was not fast. It seemed orderly, like columns of ants moving toward a destination. The muted, shocked people were following each other, but where to? They were expressionless, homeless, and soon to be stateless refugees. I always look for my family in the footage.

  Newsreels show rumbling lorries, tanks, enemy fire, and the ensuing explosions. At times German Stukas wailed through the sky, piercing the silence to announce imminent bomb attacks. Nazi bombs indiscriminately hitting civilian as well as army targets. This is a detail my father chooses to overlook during his account of their escape. Inasmuch as they could, they took control of their situation by planning their route away from the masses.

  When night fell, my family would either sit in their car or find a farmhouse where they could spend the night. Along the way, the French police stopped them and brought my grandparents and Mr. Kresser to the station for questioning, while nineteen-year-old Ellen and my fifteen-year-old father were left in the car to wait. This is where my father betrays some emotion, as he remembers the possibility that he could have lost his parents. I cannot imagine what that must have felt like for a child. My father said, “Luckily, they came back.”

  Reunited, they continued along the Normandy coast. By this time, Mr. Kresser had devised a plan that would ultimately save their lives. They rehearsed it well, and everyone knew their role. Along the road they ran into a British regiment, the North Umberland Fusiliers, who were lost. Ever the intelligence officer, and the only one who spoke perfect English, Kresser befriended them. The soldiers were in need of maps, and my family needed gas. A trade was made. The family declined an offer to put their car in one of the army’s trucks because they feared that if caught they would all be killed on the spot. Once they filled their car with gas, my grandfather got back behind the wheel and led the regiment’s column with his car until they arrived near the village of Noyelles-sur-Mer, a small town facing the English Channel. Once again they were stopped, this time by the French police, who warned them, “The enemy is near. All civilians off the road!”

  My father remembers, “Regardless of the pleading of the British, who said, ‘These are friends of ours, they are helping us,’ the French repeated, ‘All civilians off the road,’ and that was that.” Stuck on a country road near a river, they could not have known they were in the shadow of General Heinz Guderian’s 2nd Panzer Division. They shimmied under their car to shield themselves.

  The roads were overcrowded with fleeing refugees as the troops approached. Within an hour of the order to clear the road, firing started and the battle raged around them. The warmth of the car engine tempered the chill they felt from the cooling night air and dried the sweat from the fear that was shaking them through to their core. Moisture in the ground from the previous week’s rain dampened my grandmother’s tweed suit. She wore that suit every day for six months. There was an unmistakable odor of battle in the air, which mixed with the smells of spring in France. With every round of machine gun fire or tank blast, sound reverberated against the evening sky and shook the ground.

  While they lay under their car, the Nazis fought toward the channel coast, leaving casualties in their wake. It was a defining moment in the war. The small French force was hiding across the small river, the Dien, when the firing started. Darkness fell and the French were rapidly outnumbered. They suffered no injuries. Others around them were not so lucky.

  “Some people were hurt.” My father tells the story calmly. Once the French lost, they found themselves in enemy territory. The battalion of the 2nd Panzer division had passed through Noyelles-sur-Mer on that night, May 20, 1940. They were the first German unit to reach the Atlantic and had moved so far, so fast, in breaking through the French lines, that even they were confused about how to continue their advance. They were so close that the troops could see the estuary of the Somme flowing into the English Channel. In his memoirs, Guderian remarked very dryly that as he passed columns of his advancing troops, they drove through “crowds” of refugees. Five of those refugees were my family—four German Jews—and Mr. Kresser.

  The morning after the battle, Kresser sought out the German commander and told him that his troops had behaved like maniacs. Soldiers had broken into their car and stolen their passports and jewelry. “Forget the jewelry,” said Kresser. Their stolen identities were the real issue. He asked the commander for the name of his superior in order to lodge a complaint against him for failing to control his men. The commander explained that he couldn’t watch his soldiers every minute and that this can happen during a war. With that, a carefully thought-out, well-rehearsed plan was set in motion, and the Germans fell for it.

  What actually happened was this: My grandparents had purposely destroyed all of the family’s passports and documents that would show their real identities or give any clues to their being Jews in what was now Nazi-occupied France. Mr. Kresser held an American passport, and therefore his identity was secure, since the United States and Germany were not at war yet. The Germans believed our ex–intelligence officer’s story, and, to appease him and move them along, the commander issued them a laissez-passer (which literally means “let them pass”) that listed all of their new names on it. At some point during the many hours and days spent in that car, they had come up with a plan for taking on new identities. My father describes what happened next:

  “I became Walter Kresser. I was from Baltimore, I knew what high school I had gone to, and I knew what courses I had taken. Mr. Kresser was thorough, good at that. . . . My sister went to a different high school; we knew that too. Both of us spoke English by then, quite fluently with British accents, but I don’t think the Germans would have known the difference. My mother became Mr. Kresser’s wife. My father became Mr. Kresser’s French chauffeur; his name remained Arthur Wolff. He claimed to have been born in Alsace-Lorraine, which would have been okay. The only thing that might have given him away was his accent, which was of a slightly different variety. We destroyed our real passports. We had papers giving our correct birthplace and everything else. We wouldn’t get caught that way. Remember, Mr. Kresser was an ex–intelligence officer and didn’t make such mistakes.”

  With their identities changed, they stayed in Noyelles-sur-Mer for six weeks. They were able to find shelter at a local farmhouse for several days and then moved into the Château de Noyelles, which belonged to French fascists, who had abandoned their home. My father even remembered the family’s name but never told us. The château is now a lovely inn. It soon became headquarters for the German army, and everyone was living under one roof, giving a new twist to the expression, “Keep your friends close and your enemies closer.” My father’s family lived on the top floor. Omi, my grandmother, never said a word; she was pretending to be shell-shocked and mute. The children spoke only to Kresser.

  On September 12, 1991, the Wolff family was honored to have an article published in the Congressional Record commemorating the fiftieth anniversary of our arrival in the United States. The article mentions part of what happened when my family came face-to-face with the German army. “Ellen Wolff Ducat remembers one particular event during their journey, when they were quartered in a castle in Noyelles-sur-Mer, a coastal village northwest of Paris. Platoons of German soldiers also inhabited these grounds, for the estate was being used as a staging area to fan the army throughout the region.” Perhaps it was General Guderian himself, who had posted his troops at the château.

  One day Ellen returned to the family’s car and found that it had been searched and their possessions ransacked. Among the items now left out in the open by the soldiers, she discovered the Hebrew prayer book that had belonged to her grandmother. Although they had destroyed their identities, they couldn’t forsake the most incriminating evidence. The Congressional Record continues: “Ellen hid this prayer book, and kept it with her for the rest of the journey. Fortunately, the soldiers who were responsible for the raid were suddenly relocated and the Wolffs fled to safety again.” While they were living in Noyelles with the Germans at the château, an officer who was a former actor was rather taken with my aunt Ellen and flirted with her. He eventually told her he understood their story but that he was civilized, and people like him did not make such distinctions. He must have discovered their true identities. They were betrayed by an heirloom.

  [image: image]

  Château de Noyelles, Noyelles-sur-Mer.

  One afternoon during the early summer, my father was in the garden doing what he loved more than anything, picking berries. Wherever we traveled throughout my childhood, this was something we would do, even if it meant stopping along a highway on the road to St. Godknowswhere! In St. Moritz we would come down from the mountains, go straight to our favorite pastry shop, Hanselmann’s, and take afternoon tea. We covered the pastries with the berries that we had collected and thick whipped cream.

  The warmth of that afternoon in June 1940 was interrupted when RAF planes came from out of nowhere and dropped their one-ton bombs down from the sky. It was quiet; people were going about their business around the château. To the passive observer, nothing was out of the ordinary. The noises of summer, buzzing bees collecting pollen from flowers, worms turning the earth, birds, other imperceptible sounds bound together, creating white noise. My grandmother and aunt were hanging wash out to dry in the hot sun. On hearing the approaching planes, they looked helplessly out toward the garden at my father. My grandfather was under the hood of the car, checking the engine as every chauffeur does. He was stopped, frozen in time. Mr. Kresser stood watching the carnage as the moment unfolded before his eyes. He yelled out the window of their quarters to my father to seek shelter. The problem with hearing my father tell this story during his video testimony is that he is so relaxed that anyone listening must surely have the cartoon-like image that I have long held onto. One cannot grasp the sounds, or the smells and the feeling of dirt spraying, or the fear that takes over you as you look to the sky while bombs fall, at first silently, then with the loud unmistakable screech flooding the ears as they reach the earth. There is a vacuum of silence just before the explosion. With his telling, I missed the mental chaos they must have experienced, not knowing who was hit, whose body parts were flying through the air, mixing with the other debris shattered by the explosion. No one could protect them. The strafing did not last long, though they wouldn’t know that.

  When the firing stopped and it was clear that the planes had gone, my father found himself dangling in a crater. His neat clothes were covered in dirt that had rained down, entering every exposed orifice. The bomb hadn’t exploded. With the blood drained from his face, shaken and dazed, and his ears ringing with sudden but temporary deafness, he thanked the God that he no longer believed in for sparing his life and staggered to safety. The bombing kept their secret safe and bought more time. The Nazi with a crush on Ellen lay dead a short distance away. Dad could remember the garden and the berries, but whatever else—the blood and dirt, smoke, the acrid smells of burning machinery and burnt flesh, the fear, his family’s terrified screams, the yelling of the Nazis—was repressed long ago. My father was unharmed—the irony of war.

  During the interview, he rubbed his chest through his gray-and-white-striped shirt. I vehemently disliked it, perhaps because I found it curiously reminiscent of a concentration camp uniform.

  “I had several victims.” His laughter broke through his wry smile, the mischievous one that showed there was a hidden side to him. He liked to recount the German’s drinking escapades in the cellar of the château throughout the six weeks that they stayed there. Dad points to a photograph: the window on the upper floor of the tower is where my family slept. The fifteen-year-old Walter Wolff is revealed as he begins his story again. The Germans were drinking like crazy; they spent their evenings in the wine cellar. He noticed that the French people had bottles of oil stored on one side in wine bottles labeled “huile,” and the wine was in bottles on the other side. He said the Krauts in their drunken stupor never bothered with a traditional uncorking. They broke the neck off each bottle and guzzled. He switched the bottles; he thought it was a funny thing to do.

  Down to the cellar during the bombings: a family of Jews with a bunch of drunken Nazis leaning on each other, their laughter hiding fear, their odor of sweat and alcohol permeating the darkness, through walls of bottles. Those soldiers were ready and stoked to fight their war, their advance momentarily halted by Hitler himself. My family watched with loathing in their eyes as the soldiers sat drunk in the darkness, singing songs and leaning into each other the way drunk men do. And my father had the audacity to play tricks. Did they sit opposite each other? Was plaster falling from the ceiling with each thud of explosives? How did my father keep from laughing? Had the thunderous sounds of war become so routine that evenings in the cellar were as mundane as an evening spent around the hearth? These questions all have very clear answers. The answers simply cannot be discovered because the participants in this story are all gone. What remains is washed of detail. The château has been restored. The walls plastered over, faded paint given a fresh coat, flowers replanted to blossom in their perennial beauty.

  Later, as a soldier himself, my father wrote hundreds of letters to my grandmother Omi. Most begin “Chère Mamo.” They are written on scraps of dossier paper, army stationery, his bar mitzvah stationary with “WW” in the upper left-hand corner, even Nazi stationary. He experienced war and its beastly rage on the soul but possessed a very special approach and sensibility toward life. Besides a marvelous sense of humor, he had magic, perhaps something he himself wasn’t even aware of. It was an innate ability to compartmentalize, to quickly adapt to any situation or circumstance and function in the realm of that given moment. That aspect of his personality worked to his advantage. Throughout his life he had a singular capacity to draw out the best that life had to offer during the course of a devastating experience. Perhaps this is why this story is so unique. So many millions suffered, but somehow my father’s coping mechanisms made him enjoy what he could and come away with some very charming and, strange to say, fond memories.

  The family left the Château de Noyelles after armistice was declared in June 1940. Decades later, my parents returned during a last trip to Europe together as their marriage dissolved. It should have been something that brought a family together. Instead it was as if my father needed to go back to Noyelles one last time. Before moving on to a different stage, he shared this deeply private moment with my mother. I too wanted to walk the grounds with him to see the strawberry patch, go down to the cellar, and see the room. Didn’t he think it mattered to his children?

  My mother and father went up and visited the room he had occupied half a century earlier. The view out the window—what memories did he see before him? The room absorbed the summer light, making everything bright. Everything had stayed the same. They stopped at the garden. My father pointed to the spot where a boy’s life had once been spared when he was left quietly stunned in the crater of an unexploded bomb. When they were leaving the grounds, the caretaker’s wife ran after my mother, presenting her with a deeply felt gesture: a bouquet of flowers. If I had been there, I would have looked for clues in his face, deep in his tender eyes, that offered an opening into his reserved, quiet exterior. My own family will go someday and stay in that very room. I wish for a marker, carved initials into a hidden floorboard, something to reveal their presence during those chaotic weeks. We were always looking for a way into that reserve, a way to bring him out. No one ever really knew what it was. I can only guess that it took a lot of energy to hide the vast quantity of emotion and fear that he felt. In order to be successful, he pushed ahead with all of his emotional might.


  CHAPTER 3

  Vichy, Lyon, and the Flag of Rags

  France capitulated to Germany, and they left Noyelles-sur-Mer before their true identities could be discovered. Before they continued on, they did several things: Mr. Kresser had the idea that they should make the vehicle look as official as possible. One of them found a brush and some white paint and carefully painted “USA” all over the car, the roof included. Omi made an American flag out of rags, and they attached it to the car’s aerial. They needed gasoline, and my father, Ellen, and Mr. Kresser found a way to siphon gas from the abandoned cars, trucks, and tanks that littered the road. They took rubber tubes and sucked on them, transferring the gas to the bottles they collected, and filled their tank. My father mimes the action during his interview; an incredulous smile breaks through as he recalls what an unpleasant task it was. They went to abandoned cars, ignoring the carnage and the wreckage. Just the fumes from the gasoline must have made them ill, but they filled their tank and headed toward Vichy.

  At Moulins, the border to the zone under French control, the zone libre, Mr. Kresser pulled out his American passport and screamed out the window at the German guard, “Embassy, embassy!” Bewildered, the guard looked at the oncoming car with its makeshift flag and paint job, and said, “I can’t let you through, but I’ll let you go to my colleague down the road. He’s my superior. If he lets you through, it’s fine with me.”

  As they pulled up to the second guard a little farther down the road, he screamed once again, “Embassy, embassy!” and pointed to his passport. This time the guard looked at the passport, saluted, and let them through the demarcation line to so-called unoccupied France. This was nothing short of miraculous, because if their ethnicity had been discovered, they would have been shot on the spot, no questions asked. Besides that, border closings were at the Nazis’ whim and might last days or weeks. From one day to the next, no one knew if they would be allowed to cross. At times there were hundreds to thousands of cars and people lining the road, waiting to cross, with no place to sleep and little food to be had.

  Having crossed many borders in my life, I know it to be an unnerving process. There is always a fear of being searched and questioned, even if one has nothing to hide. As a young teenager, I was once pulled aside and searched at an airport in Italy. I have never forgotten how scared and unnerved I felt. As children, we were never to fool around while crossing a border. On at least one occasion, this proved impossible. We were crossing into Lugano, and my father decided that the guards would take less notice if he played being an “Americano.” He rolled down his window and smiled at the guard while handing him our passports. He looked at the man, and deadpan, in the most American accent I ever heard come out of that man’s mouth, he practically yelled, “Luggaanno!” Whereupon my brother, mother, and I fell to pieces in the car, trying not to laugh as he slapped his car seat to shut us up. This, of course, made us laugh more. We had tears rolling down our cheeks as we tried to contain ourselves. Never did we laugh harder.

  After the Germans let them through, a wave of relief must have passed over them long enough to look back and laugh at the gullibility of the young Nazis in charge. My family was now in the unoccupied zone in the center of France, less than sixty kilometers from Vichy. Jews were being rounded up no matter where they were found, though, and it was dangerous. When they finally approached the outskirts of Vichy, with the car decorated as it was, they were greeted by a line of applauding bystanders who mistook them for American dignitaries. Years later, as he would watch the parades and floats slowly move down Fifth Avenue in a sea of color and sound, perhaps my father allowed himself the luxury of a memory of a thousand days before. A young man and his family were the center of attention, with their painted car a beacon of hope for the occupied masses. For just a moment, they could believe that help was on the way, that the Americans had finally stepped in. My great uncle lived in Vichy. They found the keys he left for them before he fled. They stayed as long as they could, decamping six weeks later when it became too dangerous for their cover to be secure. It was Vichy after all, the epicenter of French collaboration with the Nazis. The Gestapo was everywhere, so they left.

  They packed up and headed to Lyon, a two-hundred-kilometer drive that would have taken at least three tanks of fuel. They must have sucked on a lot of rubber tubing to fill their tank when there was none available for purchase. What did they see on the way? How long did it take for them to get to Lyon, on those narrow roads, at the end of the summer of 1940?
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  My father on the run in Lyon, France, age sixteen.

  No longer able to use the German “laissez-passer,” they reclaimed their original identities and dropped their American ones. My grandfather must have started to contact relatives in New York to get sponsorship for visas. My father recalled that they were never completely aware of what was happening to European Jewry at the time. They had seen people being arrested. He had a short-wave radio that he always called his TSF (télégraphie sans fil, a French term for a radio), and he would listen to it every night, hiding the sound of its crackling static under his blankets. After he separated the propaganda from the truth, he would update family and friends with news. Even as a teenager on the run, Dad kept a portable radio that was powerful enough to get the BBC, the only truly trustworthy source. Informed, they had a pretty good idea of how the war was going, where and what battles took place. The local newspapers were of no use. Garbage, he said.

  To replenish their shrinking resources, my grandfather sold the escape car. Life on the run required capital, probably access to even more funds than usual. Everything had its price. In Lyon, life was anything but normal for them. There was no school, no work. Food was rationed, scarce, and extremely costly. There were curfews. There was anxiety. The children’s principal occupation was to find food for the family, but Mr. Kresser saw to it that my father had something else to do with his free time. The head of the Resistance was a friend of his, so he introduced my father to him and put him to work at night. At just sixteen, he became a runner for the Resistance. I am sure that my dad felt duty bound.

  His footsteps, made louder by his worn leather soles, clattered on the stone streets. Rainy nights only amplified the sound. They walked and talked casually, just like old friends winding through the nighttime streets, darting into the traboules—covered walkways that were hidden behind unmarked doors. Once used by silk merchants, they now led to safe houses in the old city. It’s all a blur really, the innocuous chatter, shadows clinging to walls. The British airmen nodded as my father babbled at them in French, telling them irrelevant stories while leading them to safety after they had parachuted down from the skies over Lyon. When need be, the sound of his breath was barely audible now. My father had learned to control his breathing. One wrong move could attract attention. If caught, he would have been tortured to betray his loyalties and his comrades and then shot. Lyon was a stronghold for the French Resistance and, as such, was fertile ground for rounding up anyone who went against the regime in deed or in thought. The authorities would have shown absolutely no mercy.

  I think of Omi sitting with her hands clasped, waiting at in their hotel room on Rue Gasparino, utterly terrified that my father would never return, acid in her stomach a reminder of their never-ending fear of being caught. Mr. Kresser sat with her, reassuring her that she would see her son again. Decades later, we would often hear Omi say, “I am my own master,” repeating it as if a mantra with that very distinguished accent of hers. As age pulled her farther away from the life she once knew and the heart-throbbing fear that was her past, she would remind those around her that her dignity was very much intact and never to be taken for granted. Their lives had been so diminished, fighting every day to stay alive, even willing to make the sacrifice of allowing my young father to do his part for the Resistance. The warmth of summer faded, and they spent the fall and winter of 1940 in Lyon. I can never picture my grandfather beyond the photos that I have seen. No one ever really spoke about him. Mr. Kresser, though faceless, looms larger than life.

  They needed to get out of Europe. They had already been warned to leave while there was still time. On her way to Amsterdam, Aunt Hedwig had taken a detour with her young daughter, Doris, and visited them in Brussels. On more than one occasion, Hedwig pleaded with her brother, but for whatever reason they were not ready. My grandparents knew the regime in Germany was trouble; laws against the Jews had forced them to move out of Koblenz long before they settled in Brussels. They simply thought Hitler was a passing phenomenon, that he couldn’t last, and in neutral Belgium they were safely out of reach. How much more of a hint does one need, though, when they still mourned the loss of a family member murdered on the way to a concentration camp shortly after Hitler was appointed chancellor?

  In February 1940, Omi received word that her father had died sometime during the weeks before. My aunt Mete, a nurse, had stayed behind to care for him in Mannheim, Germany. It almost cost the former national tennis champion her life. Shortly after her father’s death, Mete was deported to Gurs, the notorious internment camp in southwestern France, where the conditions were deplorable. As with many stories handed down within families, there may be inaccurate nuances here and there, but Aunt Mete was on some kind of line and a guard recognized her.

  Unbelievably, he was Mete’s mixed doubles partner from their tennis days. In order to save her life, he beat her as a cover for his plan to help her escape. Once free, she made her way to Paris where she tried unsuccessfully to locate some family members. Strangers told her that if she stood on the Champs-Élysées, she might be filmed for a newsreel and then spotted by a relative. According to the story I was told, that is exactly what happened! While at the movies in Brooklyn, her sister, Erna, and daughter, Lore, spotted Mete and had the projectionist replay the film until they could stop it and be sure. They were able to secure a visa for her, and she spent the remainder of her life in New York. Amazingly, we lost just one relative to the Nazis.
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  My aunt, Meta Bach, playing in the Reich Championship.

  While she was interned at Gurs, Mete’s house in Landau was seized and sold. My father returned to Landau as a soldier in July 1945. The road into town was a sea of red, white, and blue flags. Having not been there for quite some time, my father asked a soldier and three civilians for directions to the house. They found that only the windows had suffered damage. The house was one of the few left intact amid the devastation. They pulled up to the front gate in their jeep and rang the bell. As soon as it sounded, all the lights in the house were turned off, so my father screamed: “Ich gebe Ihnen genau zwei Minuten zum Aufmachen, dann schiesse ich die Tür nieder!” Translation: “I will give you exactly two minutes, and then I will shoot the door down!”

  Thirty seconds later, a trembling man opened the door and asked him what he wanted. Losing patience, my father told him that he was the nephew of the legal owner and to let him through immediately. These people were in such shock when my father explained who he was that they were left standing with their mouths open. He was told by the “new owner,” an elderly woman called Frau Kopf, that Aunt Mete had ceded the house and that she was the legal owner. She showed my father the contract she had signed at the Polizei Praesidium between her and the Nazis, which mentioned the laws of expropriation. She paid 65,000 marks for it. He requisitioned the house and, before turning it over to the French government, he had the two families, Kopf and Maatz, taken away. From the remaining occupants, he demanded two beds with fresh linen and kept them up until midnight lecturing them on the morality of buying stolen goods while he calmly played with his revolver. They did indeed remember my aunt Mete, especially the elderly Madame Hertel. Dad found the whole incident so amusing that he pressed them further and demanded six eggs for 9:00 a.m. the next morning. He “requisitioned” approximately forty bottles of wine before heading off to find the governing military body the next day, after a very satisfying breakfast. Later that day, after meeting with the governor, he wrote him a formal letter describing in detail the background of the situation and that since the property was in fact expropriated under the laws of the Third Reich, that the house should be surrendered to him as per his aunt’s wishes.

OEBPS/Images/7-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/cover.jpg
(el

SoMEDAY You WiILL
UNDERSTAND

e

MY FATHER’S PRIVATE WORLD WAR II
NINA WOLFF FELD





OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-BoldIt.otf


OEBPS/Images/i-1.jpg
JSOoMEDAY You WILL
UNDERSTAND





OEBPS/Images/8-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/iii-1.jpg
JSoMEDAY You WILL
UNDERSTAND

MY FATHER’S PRIVATE WORLD WAR II

NINA WOLFF FELD






OEBPS/Images/ii-1.jpg





OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-It.otf


OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-Bold.otf


OEBPS/Images/11-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/26-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/4-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/23-1.jpg





OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-Regular.otf


OEBPS/Images/16-1.jpg





